STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Laurens County

Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

PATRICK O'NEIL MCGOWAN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-001220

RECEIVED

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MAY 29 2018

SC Court of Appeals

LAURA R. BAER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

### I.

Whether the trial court erred in failing to direct a verdict on the indictment involving the four year old juvenile (a) where the state presented no evidence that Appellant knew she was inside of the trailer such that he could not form the requisite specific intent to injure her to prove guilt of an attempt crime, and (b) where there was evidence that only three shots were fired such that, at most, Appellant could be convicted of three attempt offenses?

### II.

Whether the trial court erred in denying the defense's request that the jury charge on assault and battery first degree include an instruction that specific intent had to be proven as to each victim?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 3, 2012, the Laurens County Grand Jury returned four separate indictments against Appellant Patrick McGowan for attempted murder. Each indictment alleged the attempted murder of a separate individual: John Glenn, Sarah Irby, Tiffany Garrett, and Saliyh R. (a four-year old juvenile). R. 403; R. 5, ll. 9-12.

On May 31 – June 2, 2016, McGowan appeared for trial before the Honorable Donald B. Hocker and a jury. McGowan was represented by Thomas Adducci, and the state was represented by assistant solicitors C. Dale Scott and Margaret Boykin. R. 1.

The jury found McGowan not guilty of attempted murder as to each alleged victim, but convicted him of four counts of assault and battery, first-degree. R. 391 – 393. Judge Hocker sentenced McGowan to seven and one half years incarceration on each count, running the sentences, for the indictments involving Irby and Glenn consecutively and the others concurrently. R. 400 – 402.

This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The charges against McGowan arose from a shooting incident that occurred at the home of John Glenn and Sarah Irby on March 31, 2012. The couple was hosting a children's birthday party earlier in the day, which turned into a gathering for adults later in the evening. Irby took her granddaughter, Saliyh R., inside of the house at approximately 5:00 or 5:30 p.m. McGowan had relatives and friends who lived on the same street, with whom he was spending time outside that evening. The groups intermingled and there was evidence that at approximately 7:00 or 8:00 p.m., McGowan came into Glenn's yard. Garrett said that she had seen McGowan "around" before when he was visiting his relatives. Later on in the night, McGowan and Glenn began to argue. R. 137, l. 8 – 145, l. 20; R. 151, l. 5 – 152, l. 5; R. 165, l. 9 – 167, l. 5; R. 174, l. 14 – 177, l. 11; R. 202, l. 16 – 211, l. 8; R. 215, l. 23 – 216, l. 7; R. 222, l. 8 – 223, l. 24. Glenn said that he had never seen the person with whom he was arguing before, but in-court he identified McGowan as the man with whom he argued and told to leave his yard. R. 141, ll. 3-5; R. 144, ll. 8-14; R. 149, ll. 6-20.

Glenn's wife, Sarah Irby, testified that she was informed that Glenn was in an argument, so she went outside to get him. She and Glenn both went inside, where Saliyh R. was asleep in one of the bedrooms. Glenn and Irby both said that less than a minute after they went inside, they heard gunfire and realized that the bullets had come inside of their house. R. 145, l. 21 – 147, l. 3; R. 149, l. 24 – 150, l. 18; R. 156, ll. 15-25; R. 166, l. 22 – 169, l. 14. Glenn and Irby both ran outside after the shots were fired. Glenn said that he did not see anything other than people running. R. 147, ll. 4-10; R. 153, ll. 16-24. Irby claimed that when she ran outside after the gunfire, she saw McGowan running down the road with a gun in his hand. She admitted that she had seen McGowan earlier in the evening but never had any dispute with him. R. 169, l. 15

- 170, l. 17; R. 173, ll. 12 - 174, l. 3; R. 177, l. 12 - 178, l. 19; R. 183, l. 19 - 186, l. 21.

Irby's daughter, Tiffany Garrett, was outside during the shooting. According to Garrett she saw McGowan walk away from the argument with Glenn, toward the road. Garrett heard gunshots, looked up, and claimed to see McGowan standing in the middle of the street firing a gun. Garrett thought he was shooting up into the air, but later realized that the shots were fired into the home. R. 211, l. 10 - 213, l. 16. Though Garrett was unfamiliar with McGowan's full name on the night of the incident, she said that she found his picture on Facebook afterward using his last name to search. Garrett said that was how she was able to give the investigator the name "Patrick McGowan" when he came to meet with the family several days after the incident. R. 216, ll. 8-18.; R. 226, l. 20 - 230, l. 3. Glenn and Irby claimed that a mutual friend, Willie James, brought McGowan by their house sometime after the shooting and McGowan offered to pay them for their damaged property. R. 147, l. 11 - 149, l. 23; R. 172, l. 2 - 173, l. 11.

Officer Barton Holmes was dispatched to Glenn's home at approximately 11:15 p.m. for a report of "shots fired into a residence." R. 108, ll. 2-10; R. 134, ll. 17-23. Holmes said that he observed three "fresh" bullet holes in the front, exterior vinyl siding of the house. R. 110, l. 23 - 113, l. 11; R. 128, l. 21 - 130, l. 2. He said that the witnesses "express[ed] that they were familiar with the shooter," but he could not recall whether any of them reported seeing the shooting as it occurred. R. 131, ll. 7-20. No one provided him with the name of the shooter, "just that he was a black male." R. 130, ll. 4-8. Holmes generated a report and the case was transferred to an investigator. R. 132, ll. 4-16. Holmes uploaded the video and audio from his body camera to the department's server, but the footage for this case, along with others, was destroyed in a 2013 crash of the police department's server following a storm. R. 135, ll. 2-19; R. 195, l. 16 - 197, l. 9; see also R. 54, l. 11 - 56, l. 19. Investigator Chris Martin took over the

case but never reviewed the video footage prior to its destruction. On April 3, 2011, he spoke with Glenn, Irby, and Garrett at their home. Martin said that Garrett gave him the name “Patrick McGowan” and later identified McGowan as the shooter from a photograph array on April 20, 2011. R. 188, l. 1 – 192, l. 16; R. 194, l. 4 – 195, l. 20; see R. 216, l. 19 – 220, l. 4.

The defenses at trial were twofold – misidentification and failure to prove “attempt,” which requires both specific intent and an act. The defense presented three witnesses, two of whom – James McGowan and Derrick Handberry – said that they were next to McGowan when the shots went off and never saw him with a gun that night. R. 289, l. 20 – 293, l. 11; R. 316, l. 17 – 319, l. 23. Rather, the only person who James McGowan saw with a gun that night was a man named Terry Cunningham. R. 302, l. 2 – 303, l. 8; R. 306, l. 3 – 308, l. 8. The other defense witness, Bill Cunningham, was Glenn’s neighbor and first cousin and McGowan’s friend. R. 271, ll. 7-13. Cunningham said that McGowan and some other men had gathered in an area next to his house earlier in the evening. R. 265, l. 6 – 267, l. 10; R. 271, l. 21 – 276, l. 24. He went to bed early but woke when he heard Glenn and McGowan arguing. He intervened and called McGowan over to his front porch. Cunningham was speaking with McGowan on the porch just moments before he went inside to use the bathroom and heard the gunshots. When Cunningham came outside once the gunfire stopped, McGowan walked off of the porch toward his car. He did not see McGowan with a gun at all that night. R. 267, l. 11 – 269, l. 19; R. 269, l. 25 – 271, l. 20; R. 276, l. 3 – 279, l. 22; R. 280, l. 25 – 285, l. 19.

## ARGUMENT

### I.

The trial court erred in failing to direct a verdict on the indictment involving the four year old juvenile (a) where the state presented no evidence that Appellant knew she was inside of the trailer such that he could not form the requisite specific intent to injure her to prove guilt of an attempt crime, and (b) where there was evidence that only three shots were fired such that, at most, Appellant could be convicted of three attempt offenses.

### Introduction

McGowan was charged with four counts of attempted murder, with each indictment involving a separate individual. The trial judge instructed the jury on both attempted murder and the lesser included offense of assault and battery first degree under S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-3-600(C)(1)(b)(i), which prohibits the unlawful offer or attempt to injure another person with the present ability to do so where the act is accomplished by means likely to produce death or great bodily injury. Both charges were “attempt” offenses, such that the State was required to prove “that the defendant had the *specific intent* to commit the underlying offense, along with some *overt act*, beyond mere preparation, in furtherance of the intent.” State v. Reid, 393 S.C. 325, 329, 713 S.E.2d 274, 276 (2011) (emphasis in original); see also State v. King, 412 S.C. 403, 772 S.E.2d 189 (Ct. App. 2015), *cert granted* Mar. 28, 2016. McGowan was ultimately convicted of four counts of assault and battery first degree.

The trial judge erred in allowing the jury to render judgment on all four counts because the state failed to present any evidence that an offense was committed against Saliyh R. There was no evidence that McGowan had any knowledge that the child was inside of the house and only three bullets were fired. Thus, the trial judge should have granted directed verdict as to the child and submitted only three counts – those involving John Glenn, Sarah Irby, and Tiffany Garrett – to the jury. Further, the trial judge erred in failing to charge the jury that it was

required to find that McGowan had specific intent to injure as to each of the alleged victims. The evidence in this case was such that if the jury believed McGowan to be the shooter, it could have found that he possessed no specific intent to injure anyone. Alternatively, the jury could have found that McGowan intended to injure only Glenn, with whom he argued that evening, but lacked specific intent to injure Irby or Garrett. The trial judge had a duty to tailor the jury charge to the facts and circumstances of the case. See State v. Fuller, 297 S.C. 440, 444, 377 S.E.2d 328, 331 (1989). Had the jury been properly charged that the state was required to prove intent as to each victim beyond a reasonable doubt, there is a reasonable likelihood that the jury would have found McGowan not guilty of one or more of the charges.

#### **Relevant Facts**

At the close of the state's case, defense counsel made a motion for directed verdict, relying upon State v. King, 412 S.C. 403, 772 S.E.2d 189 (Ct. App. 2015), *cert granted* Mar. 28, 2016, and State v. Sutton, 340 S.C. 393, 532 S.E.2d 283 (2000), for the proposition that both attempted murder and assault and battery first degree, under the attempt theory, require specific intent. R. 236, ll. 2-7; R. 239, l. 2 – 240, l. 2; R. 243, ll. 3-4; R. 245, l. 5 – 247, l. 2. Counsel argued that the state failed to present evidence of specific intent regarding Saliyh R., citing the state's own evidence that the child had been inside of the house since the end of the children's party around 5:00 or 6:00 o'clock and that McGowan arrived after 7:00 o'clock. R. 236, ll. 2-21. Counsel further argued: "There is also testimony that there were only three shots. And there are, apparently, four victims. I don't know how the State can show specific intent to murder four people with three shots at the home." R. 237, ll. 3-7.

The prosecutor initially argued that both attempted murder and assault and battery first degree under the "offer or attempt" subsection were general intent crimes. R. 237, l. 10-15; R.

241, l. 21 – 242, l. 25; R. 243, l. 5 – 244, l. 5. However, he conceded, after a review of King, that attempted murder is a specific intent crime and that attempt crimes are “generally” specific intent crimes. He suggested that with respect to Saliyh R. and Sarah Irby, the trial judge should charge the lesser included offense of assault and battery first degree. The prosecutor admitted that “it would be difficult” for the state to show that McGowan had any knowledge that Saliyh R. was in the house. He recalled that the testimony was that “McGowan arrived around 7:00 o’clock and the children’s party ended around 5:00.” R. 240, l. 14 – 241, l. 21; R. 244, l. 12 – 245, l. 25; R. 247, ll. 4 – 248, l. 12. .

Even so, the prosecutor argued that the state was not required to prove that the shooter knew that there were occupants in the home to prove attempted murder or assault and battery first degree. Instead, he persisted in his argument that if the shooter had hit and killed Saliyh R., not knowing that she was inside, he would have committed a “voluntary homicide.” Thus, he argued that the crime when the shooter fails to hit her is attempted murder. R. 238, ll. 2-19; R. 241, l. 21 – 242, l. 25; R. 244, ll. 1-5; R. 248, ll. 13-16. Defense counsel argued that murder could not be properly analogized to attempted murder and assault and battery first under subsection (C)(1)(b)(i) because they require different levels of intent, with murder being only a general intent crime and the others requiring specific intent.<sup>1</sup> R. 245, ll. 18-25.

The prosecutor further argued that under the defense’s theory there would be no crime committed if you fire into a home, not knowing anyone was inside, if the person inside is not hit with a bullet. R. 248, l. 13 – 249, l. 8. Defense counsel responded that the proper charge in such

---

<sup>1</sup> “Murder” is the killing of any person with malice aforethought, either express or implied. S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-3-10. “In the context of murder, malice does not require ill-will toward the individual injured, but rather it signifies a general malignant recklessness of the lives and safety of others, or a condition of the mind which shows a heart regardless of social duty and fatally bent on mischief.” In re Tracy B., 391 S.C. 51, 704 S.E.2d 71 (Ct. App. 2010).

a case would be discharge of a firearm into an occupied dwelling. R. 249, l. 10 – 250, l. 8; see S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-440.

The trial judge said that his initial inclination was to grant the motion for directed verdict as to the child, but that he would take the matter under advisement over lunch. R. 250, l. 23 – 251, l. 14. Over the break, the prosecutor e-mailed the trial judge and defense counsel, suggesting that the doctrine of transferred intent would allow all of the charges to go to the jury. Defense counsel argued in response that transferred intent was not applicable to an attempt crime because it requires proof of specific intent, especially where there is no injury to the alleged victim. The prosecutor asserted that our Supreme Court’s opinion in State v. Childers, 373 S.C. 367, 645 S.E.2d 233 (2007), supported his position that “[a]s much as the doctrine of transferred intent applies to murder, the Court should find that it applies to attempted murder.” However, the prosecutor was unable to cite to any language in Childers that referenced any applicability of the transferred intent doctrine to attempted murder. R. 256, l. 11 – 258, l. 9. Defense counsel responded that the thrust of the state’s argument seemed to be that specific intent was only to commit to the act, whereas he was arguing that the specific intent was required to commit the act against each individual person. He reiterated that to find otherwise would negate the specific intent requirement. R. 258, l. 19 – 259, l. 2.

The trial judge noted that he was concerned with the existence of evidence rather than weight at the directed verdict stage. He said that he was not sure if they “should get so wrapped up on trying to determine whether or not it’s specific or general [intent].” He found that there was some evidence that McGowan knew that Glenn and Irby were in the house and that Garrett was standing in plain sight outside of the house, such that those counts of attempted murder should be submitted to the jury. The trial judge said that he would also charge assault and

battery first degree as to all four alleged victims. Regarding transferred intent, the judge said that he did not think it would need to “come into play” and he would not charge the jury on it. R. 258, ll. 10-16; R. 259, l. 5 – 260, l. 25.

When defense counsel asked for clarification of whether the denial of the motion for directed verdict included the count with the child, the judge responded:

That was for all four. And I’ll be candid with you folks, too, I may -- at the conclusion of the case, I may, at a minimum, once you renew your motion for directed verdict, grant it with respect to the child, but at this stage I’m not going to.

R. 261, ll. 1-8. Defense counsel renewed his motion for directed verdict at the close of the defense’s case. R. 335, ll. 15-17. The judge took the renewed motion under advisement, but four counts of attempted murder and assault and battery first degree were ultimately submitted to the jury. R. 335, ll. 18-23; R. 387, l. 16 – 388, l. 17.

### **Discussion**

The motion for directed verdict as to the indictment involving the child, Saliyh R., should have been granted for two reasons. First, the state failed to prove that, if McGowan was the shooter, he had any specific intent to kill Saliyh R. where there was no evidence that he was aware that she was inside of the house. By the state’s own admission, the only evidence before the jury was that Saliyh R. was inside of the home and asleep at the time that McGowan arrived in the area. The concept of transferred intent, which allows specific intent toward an intended victim to be expanded toward an unintended victim, was not applicable because there was no injury to Saliyh R. Second, the state could not support four charges where the evidence reflected that only three bullets were fired because attempt requires specific intent *coupled with an overt act* in furtherance of the intent. While there was a dispute as to whether McGowan even possessed the specific intent to kill anyone, with evidence of only three “acts,” the maximum

number of offenses for which he could be found guilty were three.<sup>2</sup> Thus, the state failed to present evidence to support the charges of attempted murder or assault and battery first degree under S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-3-600(C)(1)(b)(i) with respect to Saliyh R. and it was the judge's duty to grant the motion for directed verdict.

A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the State fails to produce evidence of the offense charged. State v. Curtis, 356 S.C. 622, 591 S.E.2d 600 (2004). In reviewing a denial of a directed verdict, the appellate court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Jarrell, 350 S.C. 90, 97, 564 S.E.2d 362, 366 (Ct. App. 2002). If there was any direct evidence of guilt, or if there is substantial circumstantial evidence, that reasonably tends to prove the defendant's guilt, the appellate court must find that the trial court properly submitted the case to the jury. State v. Odems, 395 S.C. 582, 586, 720 S.E.2d 48, 50 (2011); State v. Rogers, 405 S.C. 554, 563, 748 S.E.2d 265, 270 (Ct. App. 2013). "A defendant may not be convicted of a criminal offense unless the State proves beyond a reasonable doubt that he acted with the criminal intent, or mental state, required for a particular offense." State v. Fennell, 340 S.C. 266, 271, 531 S.E.2d 512, 515 (2000).

**A. First-Degree Assault Under S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-3-600(C)(1)(b)(i) Is a Specific Intent Crime**

The trial judge properly determined that both attempted murder and assault and battery first degree under S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-3-600(C)(1)(b)(i) were specific intent crimes because they were "attempt" offenses. Though McGowan was acquitted on the attempted murder

---

<sup>2</sup> While Appellant is aware of the remote possibility that a bullet can pass through one person and into another, as the "magic bullet" allegedly did in the assassination of President John F. Kennedy, Appellant avers that such would certainly be an exceptional circumstance and not the natural and probable consequence of firing an individual bullet.

charges, the jury convicted him of four counts of assault and battery first degree. S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-3-600(C)(1)(b)(i) provides:

A person commits the offense of assault and battery in the first degree if the person unlawfully . . . offers or attempts to injure another person with the present ability to do so, and the act . . . is accomplished by means likely to produce death or great bodily injury . . . .

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