**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM LAURENS COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions  
Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2016-001220

THE STATE, .....RESPONDENT,

v.

PATRICK O'NEIL MCGOWAN, .....APPELLANT.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

**RECEIVED**  
**MAY 29 2018**  
**SC Court of Appeals**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-0368

DAVID M. STUMBO  
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 516  
Greenwood, SC 29648  
(864) 942-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

##

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

In relevant part, S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600 provides:

(A) For purposes of this section:

(1) "Great bodily injury" means bodily injury which causes a substantial risk of death or which causes serious, permanent disfigurement or protracted loss or impairment of the function of a bodily member or organ.

(2) "Moderate bodily injury" means physical injury that involves prolonged loss of consciousness, or that causes temporary or moderate disfigurement or temporary loss of the function of a bodily member or organ, or injury that requires medical treatment when the treatment requires the use of regional or general anesthesia or injury that results in a fracture or dislocation. Moderate bodily injury does not include one-time treatment and subsequent observation of scratches, cuts, abrasions, bruises, burns, splinters, or any other minor injuries that do not ordinarily require extensive medical care.

....

(B)(1) A person commits the offense of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature if the person unlawfully injures another person, and:

(a) great bodily injury to another person results; or

(b) the act is accomplished by means likely to produce death or great bodily injury.

....

(C)(1) A person commits the offense of assault and battery in the first degree if the person unlawfully:

(a) injures another person and the act: (i) involves nonconsensual touching of the private parts of a person, either under or above clothing, with lewd and

lascivious intent; or (ii) occurred during the commission of a robbery, burglary, kidnapping, or theft; or

(b) offers or attempts to injure another person with the present ability to do so, and the act: (i) is accomplished by means likely to produce death or great bodily injury or (ii) occurred during the commission of a robbery, burglary, kidnapping, or theft.

.....  
(emphasis added).

The crux of Appellant's argument is the mistaken belief that specific intent can only exist as to the specific, intended victim of attempted murder. Not only is there an absence of language requiring a specific victim in § 16-3-29, but this contradicts established state law. In State v. Fennell, 340 S.C. 266, 531 S.E.2d 512 (2000), the South Carolina Supreme Court found a defendant who killed his intended target but also injured an unrelated third party in his shooting spree was guilty of murder of the intended victim and, using the doctrine of transferred intent, ABWIK of the third party. The court explained:

The defendant's mental state, or mens rea, whatever it may be at the time he allegedly commits a criminal act, is contained within the defendant's brain when he commits the act. That mental state never leaves the defendant's brain; it is not "transferred from the defendant's brain to another person or place. A more apt description might be that the mental state is like a spotlight emanating from its source—the defendant's mind—to its target—the intended victim.

Nor is that mental state in limited supply. The mental state "spotlight" is not extinguished at the moment a bullet strikes and kills the intended victim, such that there is no mental state left upon which to convict an unintended victim who also is injured or killed.

340 S.C. at 271, 531 S.E.2d at 515.

More recently, the doctrine of transferred intent was applied to South Carolina's successor to ABWIK, attempted murder, in State v. Williams, Op. No. 5540 (S.C. Ct. App. filed

February 28, 2018) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 9 at 112). In Williams, the defendant was charged with three counts of attempted murder after he and codefendant fired numerous shots at a home, intending to kill Al Young. However, Young was joined by Ycedra Williams and Joseph Wrighton, in the home that night and the two defendants ended up focusing their shots on Wrighton. None of the home's occupants were injured in the attack. Id. at 113–14.

At trial, Williams objected to several of the circuit court's jury charges, including the transferred intent charge. He argued that the evidence showed, at most, he attempted to harm Young and because attempted murder is a specific intent crime, he could not have had a specific intent to harm the unknown persons in the home. The trial judge refused his request and the jury ultimately convicted Appellant of all three attempted murder charges. Id. at 114–116.

Citing to this Court's opinion in King, the Court agreed attempted murder under South Carolina law requires proving a defendant had the specific intent to commit murder. However, the Court found the circuit court properly charged the jury on the doctrine of transferred intent because "South Carolina's criminal laws require the imposition of the doctrine of transferred intent." Id. at 124–25. The Court further found Williams misconstrued the attempted murder statute when he argued S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-29 requires specific intent to murder specific victims, noting the statute "states a 'person who, with the intent to kill, attempts to kill another person' is guilty of attempted murder." Id. at 125– 26 (emphasis in original). Thus, like murder, attempted murder does not require a specific victim be killed. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-10 (2015) (defining "murder" as "the killing of any person with malice aforethought, either express or implied" (emphasis added)); Williams at 124–25. Further, the Court found the specific intent to kill can be inferred by the surrounding circumstances of the case, including the use of a deadly

weapon and the character of the attack. Id. at 126 (citing State v. Sutton, 340 S.C. 393, 397 n.5, 532 S.E.2d 283, 285 n.5 (2000)).

Applying these standards to Williams, the Court found the evidence presented at trial, including: (1) testimonial and forensic evidence showing Williams and his codefendant fired multiple shots into the walls and doors of the home and at the silhouetted figure represented an attempt to kill another person with malice aforethought; (2) evidence also indicated codefendant was aware Young did not live alone at the residence. Id. at 126. Accordingly, the Court determined “Williams’ use of deadly force in attempting to kill Young would warrant the transferred intent charge as to Ycedra and Wrighton because it was foreseeable that Young would not be alone, especially when considering Young lived at the [r]esidence with several other people.” Id. at 126–27.

#### Analysis

The State notes Appellant’s alleged error did not occur. Trial counsel requested the trial judge to add the names of the victims as “an element of the crime” to his instructions on the indictments so as to indicate to the jurors that guilt for each charge required a finding of a specific intent to harm each specific victim. The trial judge denied the charge but actually instructed the jury in a manner consistent with trial counsel’s request. Notably, the trial judge instructed the jury: (1) “specific intent” required the State to prove Appellant had the intent to cause a particular result or commit a specific act; (2) “specific intent” is an element of first-degree assault and battery; (3) the State had to prove “each and every element” of the charged crime as to Irby, then was required to perform the same analysis for each indictment and victim. Combined, these instructions indicated to the jurors they had to find a specific intent to harm

each individual victim. Accordingly, Appellant received the jury instructions requested by trial counsel.

Further, assuming the trial judge's instructions did not comply with trial counsel's request, the trial judge's refusal to charge the requested language was proper: Appellant's proffered definition of "specific intent" is inconsistent with South Carolina law. Section 16-3-600(C)(1)(b) does not require a specific victim; instead, it states a person commits first-degree assault and battery if the person "offers or attempts to injure another person." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600(C)(1)(b) (emphasis added). This plain reading of the statute is also supported by the treatment of both murder and attempted murder under State law. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-10 (2015) (defining "murder" as "the killing of any person with malice aforethought, either express or implied" (emphasis added)); S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-29 (stating a "person who, with the intent to kill, attempts to kill another person" is guilty of attempted murder (emphasis added)); Fennell, 340 S.C. at 276, 531 S.E.2d at 517 (finding the defendant's state of mind is more important than the identity of the victim in convicting a defendant of homicide); Williams at 125 ("[A]s long as the State has shown the specific intent to kill or commit a murder, the identity of the victim is irrelevant).

Consistent with the established definition of "specific intent," the Williams court found the doctrine of transferred intent was not just consistent with South Carolina law, but that "South Carolina's criminal laws require the imposition of the doctrine of transferred intent." Williams at 124-25; see also Fennell, 340 S.C. at 273-74, 531 S.E.2d at 516 (finding other states' rejections of the doctrine of transferred intent, including those of California courts and the Maryland Court of Special Appeals in Harvey v. State, 681 A.2d 628 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 1996); were because those states' laws allowed for criminal prosecution for injuring both intended and

unintended victims, rendering transferred intent unnecessary in those jurisdictions). Pursuant to this doctrine, the State needed only to prove Appellant's specific intent to harm one of the victims to establish his intent shone like a spotlight on his intended and unintended victims; in other words, by proving Appellant offered or attempted to harm Glenn, the State also demonstrated Appellant intended to harm Irby, Garrett, and Child. See Williams at 126–27, (finding the evidence that Appellant intended to kill Young, his intended Victim, combined with the evidence Appellant's codefendant was aware other people lived in Young's home warranted a transferred intent charge for his two unintended victims because "it was foreseeable that Young would not be alone, especially when considering he lived at [his] [r]esidence with several other people"); see also Fennell, 340 S.C. at 276, 531 S.E.2d at 517 ("A person who, acting with malice, unleashes a deadly force in an attempt to kill . . . an intended victim should anticipate that the law will require him to answer fully for his deeds when that force kills or injures an unintended victim"); id. at 272, 531 S.E.2d at 515 (finding in a common case of transferred intent, "[a]lthough the defendant did not act with malice toward the unintended victim, the defendant's criminal intent to kill the intended victim . . . is transferred to the unintended victim").

Yet, even without the doctrine of transferred intent, the evidence indicated Appellant had a specific intent to harm and/or offer to do such to Glenn, Irby, Garrett, and anyone in their general proximity. As noted by this Court in Williams, "specific" intent can be inferred by the circumstances of a case, including "the use of a deadly weapon and the character of the attack." Williams at 126. In Williams, it was foreseeable to the defendant that other people were in the home and vulnerable to his attack. Id. In the instant case, however, the record indicated Appellant knew Glenn was not alone in the house. Irby went outside to intervene in Glenn and Appellant's argument and escorted the former inside. Garrett was standing on the home's lit

porch, on the same side of the house which Appellant fired upon. Further, the undisputed record indicated Glenn and Irby's party was attended by a multitude of guests, any of which could have been inside the home at the time Appellant began firing. Thus, it was not just foreseeable, but expected, that Appellant's attempt to use deadly force against Glenn could harm anyone inside or near the home. See Sutton, 340 S.C. at 397 n.5, 532 S.E.2d at 285 n.5; Williams at 126.

Further, Appellant's actions could also be interpreted as an "offer" to harm the victims. Notably, section 16-3-600(C)(1)(b) criminalizes both "offers" and "attempts" to injure other persons. If Appellant did not intend to injure the victims, the only other reasonable interpretation of his actions was that he was intending to threaten and scare them. In such a situation, Appellant "intended" to terrorize those in the bullets' proximities and his actions still constitute a violation of the assault and battery statute. See id.

As noted by Appellant in his brief, "it would not have made sense to wait for [Glenn] to [go] inside and walk into the street before shooting" if his target was Glenn. (Br. of Appellant p.27). What Appellant fails to understand is that this very point underscores the State's case; Appellant's decision to fire multiple shots at a building he knew contained multiple people, with someone standing on the porch of the building, at a well-attended party, indicates his intent to harm or threaten multiple people and betrays any argument that he sought to limit his intent to Glenn.

Accordingly, the trial judge, even if he did not give the charge requested by trial counsel, did not err in his instructions to the jury.

## II.

**The trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion to direct a verdict on the indictment involving the child victim because Appellant was guilty of attempting to harm the child through the doctrine of transferred intent.**

Appellant argues the trial judge improperly denied Appellant's motion to direct a verdict on the indictment involving Child because the State failed to present evidence Appellant knew Child was inside the home and thus Appellant could not have possessed the specific intent to injure her. Appellant also complains the evidence only showed three shots were fired at the home, and therefore Appellant could, at most, have been convicted of three attempt offenses. The State disagrees with these allegations of error. First, the trial judge failed to rule on the motion for a directed verdict and trial counsel failed to request such a ruling. Accordingly, the issue is not preserved for review. Second, first-degree assault and battery does not require a specific intent to harm a specific victim, and Appellant's specific intent to harm Glenn, Irby, and Garrett was transferred to Child because of the circumstances surrounding his attack and the foreseeability that multiple people could be harmed. Third, Appellant's argument that he could, at most, have been charged with only three crimes because he fired only three bullets demonstrates a fundamental misunderstanding of criminal law and ignores that a physical injury is not required under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600(C)(1)(b).

“When ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its weight.” State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006). A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the State fails to produce evidence of the offense charged. Id. When reviewing a denial of a directed verdict, the appellate court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 593–94, 606 S.E.2d 475, 477–78 (2004). “If there is

any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, an appellate court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury.” Id. (emphasis added). A circuit judge should grant a directed verdict motion when the evidence merely raises a suspicion the accused is guilty. State v. Odems, 395 S.C. 582, 586, 720 S.E.2d 48, 50 (2011).

#### Issue Preservation

The State notes this issue is not preserved for review by this Court. During the final directed verdict discussion, the trial judge indicated he was considering granting Appellant’s motion, but would think about it overnight. He specifically requested trial counsel remind him of the motion the following morning. However, no further mention of the motion was made by either trial counsel or the trial judge. Accordingly, this issue is not proper for appellate consideration. See State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693–94 (2003) (“In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal.”); cf. State v. Hepburn, 406 S.C. 416, 753 S.E.2d 402 (2013) (“A motion for directed verdict made only at the close of one party’s evidence loses any significance once it is denied and the other party, by producing further evidence, chooses not to stand on it.” (internal citations omitted)).

#### Analysis

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